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1


PROLOGUE




intelligentsia, n. The part of a nation (orig. in 19th-cent. Russia) that aspires to intellectual activity and political initiative; a section of society regarded as educated and possessing culture and political influence.


Oxford English Dictionary





‘IN EVERY society,’ as the German sociologist Karl Mannheim observed, ‘there are social groups whose special task it is to provide an interpretation of the world for that society. We call these the “intelligentsia”.’ This is the case history of a member of the British intelligentsia in the twentieth century. It focuses particularly on the interwar years, a period that extended, in the case of someone like Ivor Montagu who identified closely with the Soviet Union, to the entry of that country into the war against Hitler in June 1941. As biography, it is deliberately partial. It deals very little with Montagu’s personal life. It focuses on two of his existential passions, film and left-wing politics, and all but ignores two others: zoology and table tennis. It pays scant attention to his work as a translator and literary agent. Apart from a skimpy epilogue, it halts abruptly at a point when he still had more than half his life to live. But within the delimited time span, it seeks to explore in depth his role as an active participant in the cultural and political ferment of the era.1


‘The fact of belonging to the same class, and that of belonging to the same generation or age group, have this in common,’ Mannheim wrote, ‘that both endow the individuals sharing in them with a common location in the social and historical process, and thereby limit them to a specific range of potential experience, predisposing them for a certain characteristic mode of thought and experience, and a characteristic type of historically relevant action.’ Montagu’s class was that of the liberal, progressive wing of the bourgeoisie, with a newly acquired aristocratic tinge; his generation that which grew up with the art form of the twentieth century, the cinema, and which in their youth experienced, if from afar, both the horror of the Great War and the exhilaration of the Russian Revolution. As this book will reveal, Montagu would, like others of his time, become (semi-) detached from his class through a conscious act of rebellion and throw in his lot, as a freelance intellectual, with the proletariat.2


The intelligentsia, Arthur Koestler was to write, are ‘the liaison agents between the way we live and the way we could live according to the contemporary level of objective knowledge.’ Those who were ‘snugly tucked into the social hierarchy’ obviously had ‘no strong impulse towards independent thought’, while ‘the great majority of the oppressed, the underdogs, lack the opportunity or the objectivity or both, for the pursuit of independent thought.’ And thus it is that ‘the function of independent thinking falls to those sandwiched in between two social layers, and exposed to the pressure of both.’3


Codename Intelligentsia is a study of Ivor Montagu as such a ‘liaison agent’, a go-between. It is the story of a young man from a privileged background who set out on his journey through life possessed of a desire both to immerse himself in the cultural life of modernity and to rectify social injustice. The following pages will disclose where the journey took him. It is a tale of the times.


*


‘Of what use is Siberia to Russia?’ is question III of the 7-year-old schoolboy’s Geography examination. His answer follows: ‘Russia sends her prisoners to Siberia, where they work, and there is hardly any colder and more horrible place than Siberia.’4


It is 1911, and the young Hon. Ivor Montagu is doing well in his first year at Mr Gibbs’s preparatory school in Sloane Street, central London. When the results come out, he tops the class in Geography, as well as in Bible Lessons, Arithmetic, Reading, and Grammar. Backing this up with second place in Tales, English History, and Recitation, and third in Natural History and Dictation, he comes first overall. Only a sixth in Picture Study, and a lamentable ninth in Writing and French, blot his copybook.5


It is a promising start for the man who was to be called (by Michael Balcon, the renowned film producer) ‘one of the first real intellectual artists of the cinema’, and (by Rachael Low, doyenne of British film historians) ‘an exceptional man in many ways and a brilliant film maker’. He was, wrote the critic Geoff Brown, ‘the period’s most dynamic, visible, and well-connected fighter for art cinema’. If he was not to receive honours for his work in film, by the end of his life Montagu had been awarded the Order of Liberation, 1st Class (Bulgaria), the Order of the Pole Star (Mongolia), and the Lenin Peace Prize, and inducted into the International Jewish Sports Hall of Fame. He had a ‘warm and certainly idiosyncratic charisma’, declared the Communist footballer Jim Riordan, and Balcon, with whom he worked for a number of years, responded to his ‘warm and generous nature’. ‘Ivor Montagu was an idealist,’ concedes journalist Ben Macintyre in a recent book, ‘but his actions were treasonable.’6


Ivor Goldsmid Samuel Montagu was born in London on 23 April 1904 to a banker, Louis Samuel Montagu, and his wife Gladys Helen Rachel, née Goldsmid. He was the third son: Stuart had been born in 1899, and Ewen in 1901. A daughter, Joyce, was to follow in 1909. Montagu was the family name, but hadn’t been so for long. Ivor’s paternal grandfather had been born (in 1832) Montagu Samuel, but he was enrolled at school by mistake as Samuel Montagu, and it was decided to keep the change. The boy, son of the Liverpool watchmaker/pawnbroker Louis Samuel, became a budding young financier and founded the merchant bank of Samuel & Montagu, later Samuel Montagu & Co., in 1853. In 1894, the year he was created a baronet, the switch was formalised, and he was granted a Royal licence to assume Montagu as a surname.7


Set up as a bullion broking business at the time of the Australian gold rush, the bank did well, and Samuel Montagu prospered. He became Liberal Member of Parliament for Whitechapel from 1885 to 1900, espousing causes of social justice including aid for the poor and the small farmer and the municipalisation of public utilities. He was also active in facilitating the emigration of Jews persecuted in Eastern Europe, and in the provision of working-class housing. In 1907, despite his belief that the hereditary peerage was an obstacle to social reform (he was treasurer of the National League for the Abolition of the House of Lords), he was made a baron, the second Jewish peer in Britain after Rothschild. There were claims, of course, that he had bought his titles. In his autobiography, Ivor simply notes that his grandfather ‘was widely celebrated for philanthropic exercises, no doubt there were the usual contributions to the party funds.’8


The newly minted aristocrat thought of calling himself Lord Montagu, and made enquiries with the existing Lord Montagu of Beaulieu, who replied, ‘I have no objection to sharing my name with you, if you will share your money with me.’ So instead he became the first Baron Swaythling, named after the village and railway station adjacent to his country seat at South Stoneham, near Southampton. This name-switching was observed with acerbic wit, possibly tinged with anti-Semitism, by Hilaire Belloc, who composed a ditty on the subject:




Montagu, first Baron Swaythling he,


Thus is known to you & me.


But the Devil down in hell


Knows the man as Samuel.


And though it may not sound the same


It is the blighter’s proper name.9





Ivor’s father, Louis Montagu, inherited the title on Samuel’s death in 1911. The 2nd Baron Swaythling, who carried on in the banking business, was a less public figure than the 1st. He did not run for office, but was a Liberal in the family tradition and took his seat in the House of Lords (while expressing his belief in a unicameral legislature). Active in Jewish causes, he was a leading figure in the League of British Jews and served as President of the Federation of Synagogues. In religion Louis was staunchly orthodox (although he disobeyed the injunction not to mix dairy products and meat, claiming to have found a passage in the Bible which vindicated his position). A man of solid build, ‘opinionated’ and ‘stubborn’ according to Ivor, he was a keen shot and excellent golfer, loved fishing, and was President for a time of the Hampshire County Cricket Club. At home he entertained frequently, played bridge, enjoyed jigsaws, and collected japonaiserie.10


Lady Swaythling, Ivor’s mother, was ten years younger than her husband, having married at 19. Gladys Montagu was the daughter of the prominent Zionist Albert Goldsmid, the first Jewish colonel in the British Army and the founder of the Jewish Lads’ Brigade. Ivor describes her as ‘very pretty, gay, charming, vivacious … constantly ready to laugh and pleased by jokes.’ She managed the large household, being ‘perpetually, visibly, busy’; she was a popular Society hostess, took singing lessons, was an enthusiastic fencer, and worked for charity. Amongst her close friends was Princess Victoria Mary (‘May’), who became Queen Mary when her husband acceded to the throne as George V in 1910. Both Ivor’s parents were accomplished linguists: Gladys knew French and German, with ‘smatterings of Hebrew, Spanish and Italian’, while Louis spoke fluent Japanese. They were a happy couple.11


The Montagus and their Samuel relatives were part of a ‘West End Cousinhood’ of leading Jewish families who had made their fortunes during the expansionary imperial era of Victorian commerce. Others included the Rothschilds, the Goldsmids, the Montefiores, the Cohens, the Waleys, and the Solomons. Many had played prominent parts in the movement for Jewish emancipation.12


Politics was in the air in the Montagu household, Ivor relates. The boy rubbed shoulders with ‘the potentates and ministers who needed entertaining as part of my father’s financial routine.’ Uncle Edwin and Cousin Herbert were ‘rising meteors of the Liberal Party’: Edwin Montagu, Louis’s brother, was MP for Chesterton (West Cambridgeshire), private secretary to (and personal friend of) Prime Minister Herbert Asquith, and subsequently Under-Secretary of State for India; Herbert Samuel, Louis’s cousin, was MP for Cleveland and a member of Asquith’s Cabinet as Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster and later Postmaster-General (in 1909, as Assistant Home Secretary, he piloted the Cinematograph Films Act through Parliament). Ivor’s Aunt Lily (Lilian Montagu, Louis’s sister) was a campaigner for women’s welfare and a founder of liberal Judaism – much to her father’s dismay.13


The Montagu family home was 28 Kensington Court, in the West End. In his memoirs, Ivor describes in loving detail the ornate carved furniture, the lacquered cabinets, the marquetry, the chairs upholstered in scarlet silk and chestnut-coloured leather, the decorative tiles, the wooden panelling, the art nouveau fireplaces, the candelabras, the parquet floors. One feature particularly fascinated the young boy, a pokey servants’ lift, whose function was ‘to carry trays or washing baskets or themselves invisibly past the gentlemanly regions when untimely menial presence might offend convention’.14


Surpassing the London home in grandeur, however, was the 2nd Baron’s country estate, Townhill Park House. Adjoining Samuel Montagu’s South Stoneham property and bought by him towards the end of the century for Louis’s use, it comprised a villa dating from the 1790s and extensive grounds. The building was decaying; under Swaythling ownership, it was restored and enlarged in Italianate style by the architect Leonard Rome Guthrie in 1911–12, and after the war a music room and boudoir were added for Lady Swaythling. Most impressive of the renovated spaces was the elegant music room, in which works by Gainsborough, Turner and other artists were displayed, ‘perfectly illuminated’ against polished walnut panels of exquisite craftsmanship. The gardens, noted for their rhododendrons and camellias, were laid out by the leading designer Gertrude Jekyll.15


Townhill Park was a veritable fiefdom replete with cowhouse, dairy, stables, poultry houses, pigsties, potting sheds, barns and tool rooms. There were kitchen gardens, hothouses and orchards, and a retinue of menservants, gardeners, chauffeurs, maids, cooks, and nannies, as well as secretaries, accompanists, and tutors. Here, Ivor was to spend the weekends and holidays of his childhood and youth.16


Formalities were observed. Evening dress for dinner was de rigueur (Ivor was forever untidy and perpetually embarrassed by his mother smartening him up in public). There were annual rituals, like the cricket match in summer between the houses of Townhill and South Stoneham (Ivor loved cricket but was handicapped through lack of skill in batting, bowling, and throwing), the shooting parties in autumn (Ivor says he never shot for entertainment), and the New Year’s Eve balls (Ivor hated dancing, and disliked all physical contact). The young master was waited on hand and foot. ‘I was a spoiled brat,’ he admits. ‘I never cooked, washed up, made the beds, mended or tidied my clothes, cleaned my shoes.’17


Young Ivor’s interest in the cinema was sparked by the family’s ownership of a praxinoscope – an optical toy that, when rotated, gave an illusion of movement to its drawn figures of, for example, a horse and rider jumping. At the age of 4 or 5 he was taken by his nursemaid to Hale’s Tours, a simulated railway journey in which views filmed from a train were projected inside an imitation carriage. Later he saw pictures (in a ‘fleapit’ in High Street) starring John Bunny, ‘Pimple’ (the popular comedian Fred Evans), and Mr and Mrs Sidney Drew, while at the Scala off Tottenham Court Road, with his mother, he saw early colour films – novelties such as The Opening of a Rose (in red and yellow slow motion) and spectacles like the imperial pageant The Delhi Durbar (1912).18


Another film he saw was of Robert Falcon Scott’s ill-fated Antarctic expedition, a disaster that made a strong impact on the Montagu children because of family connections. He also saw the Herbert Ponting photographic exhibition, and was allowed to select a print for himself – his brothers chose shots of the ship Discovery, while Ivor opted for killer whales.19


Ivor was a voracious reader and graduated from boys’ adventure stories to Conan Doyle, H.G. Wells and ultimately Darwin. He enjoyed exploring the natural world, particularly around Townhill (the zoological rather than the botanical – ‘plants were dull compared with things that moved’). He made friends at school and one, Anthony Asquith, was the son of the Prime Minister. He once spent an afternoon with Anthony launching a model aeroplane over the garden wall at No. 10 Downing Street and getting a policeman to fetch it.20


After Mr Gibbs’s school Ivor was sent, at the age of 9, to Mr Barton’s. Here he was to board, but this experiment came to an abrupt end when Ivor reported to his parents that after lights out the younger boys had been ‘bidden to tickle one of our older companions in strange places, to our no small resentment’. Ivor was also a day boy at Westminster, the prestigious public school where he was sent later, properly attired in Eton suit and top hat, from the ages of 13 to 15. He did not, he claims, ‘enjoy any part of it.’ There was some superb teaching in French and German, and he was permitted to his relief to draw rats rather than cylinders and pyramids in the art class. But he rebelled sharply against the school’s authoritarianism: ‘The ultimate evil and oppression to me was being expected to accept standards ready made, without right of challenge to them.’ He rejected the whole public school system, designed, as he was later to argue, ‘to separate out and train an elite class, destined to form part of a ruling apparatus as principals or subordinates, to have charge, at home and in the Empire.’ Sneaking out of compulsory games and military cadet parades, he began to pursue his zoological interests off his own bat at the British Museum (Natural History).21


Meanwhile, the Great War was raging. Ivor’s father served for a time in Alexandria, responsible for keeping records of Gallipoli casualties; later, both parents were heavily involved in the work of the Wounded Allies’ Relief Committee, receiving decorations from Belgium, Serbia, Romania and Japan for their efforts. Brother Stuart was in the trenches in France, a Lieutenant in the Grenadier Guards. Ivor made his contribution by knitting for the troops. And then in 1917, when he was playing with model ships, he invented a naval war game involving the movement of the opposing fleets by mathematical calculation of speeds and distances (visibility conditions to be decided by the umpire). Admiral Jellicoe himself came to Kensington Court and played, resulting in an invitation to the 13-year-old schoolboy to lecture on his brainchild to the Naval Staff College. However, the offer was not finally taken up, since in the interim, Ivor reports, ‘I had become a socialist and decided I was against war.’22


When questioned later in life by the cinematographer Freddie Young as to why he had become politically radical, Montagu recalled a childhood incident:




When I was a small boy, my father, Lord Swaythling, had a big house in the country. I was quite lonely and I made friends with the gardener’s son and we used to play together. One day we went into the peach house and we both took a peach off the tree. We were in the middle of eating our peaches when in came the head gardener, and he slapped his son for stealing fruit and he sent him off crying. Then he turned to me and said, ‘I think you should go back to the house, sir.’ At that moment, Freddie, I was struck by the unfairness of things, and I’ve been a communist ever since.23





Whatever the origins of his anti-establishment views, they were nourished at a tender age by such tracts as Karl Liebknecht’s Militarism and Anti-Militarism (1907) and This Misery of Boots (1908) by H.G. Wells, which Montagu considered ‘the best socialist propaganda pamphlet I have ever read’. Liebknecht argued that possession of arms was one of the means by which the ruling class sustained its domination over the majority of the population, and that in militarism, reaction and capitalism were ‘defending their most important position of power against democracy and the working class.’ Wells, taking footwear as his starting point, refused to accept the proposition that ‘a large majority of people can never hope for more than to be shod in a manner that is frequently painful, uncomfortable, unhealthy, or unsightly.’ The reason for the current unsatisfactory state of affairs was private property and profit-taking: ‘Is there no other way of managing things,’ he asked, ‘than to let these property-owners exact their claims, and squeeze comfort, pride, happiness, out of the lives of the common run of people?’ He concluded by calling for socialist revolution: ‘The whole system has to be changed, if we are to get rid of the masses of dull poverty that render our present state detestable to any sensitive man or woman.’24


Ivor also read two pamphlets by George Bernard Shaw, a friend of the family, whom he would lunch with from time to time. These were Socialism for Millionaires and Socialism and Superior Brains – titles which Ivor (‘I blush to admit it’) thought appropriate to him. He confesses, however, that ‘they did not mean much to me when I tried to understand them.’25


Wells proclaimed, ‘Everywhere we must make or join a Socialist organisation,’ and Ivor complied, becoming (in 1918) a member of the Central London branch of the Marxist-oriented British Socialist Party. The BSP had been bitterly divided on its attitude towards the war. The internationalists, led by the Jewish East End organiser Joe Fineberg, opposed the war as reactionary and imperialist. They had gained a majority in 1916, and since then the Party had conducted a strenuous anti-war struggle. Among its prominent leaders when Ivor joined were the general secretary Albert Inkpin and the Clydeside militant John MacLean, while Russian émigré Theodore Rothstein exerted a powerful influence behind the scenes. The Central London branch met every two weeks at a café run by female anarchists in High Holborn.26


The BSP distributed socialist pamphlets, defying police bans on seditious literature. Ivor assisted by temporarily storing a consignment of Lenin’s State and Revolution on the upstairs landing at Kensington Court (‘No one would look for them there, I averred’). This essay, with its confident prediction that the ‘proletarian state will begin to wither away immediately after its victory, because the state is unnecessary and cannot exist in a society in which there are no class antagonisms,’ was to prove highly influential on the British left, especially in making the concept of the dictatorship of the proletariat acceptable ‘to many who initially found the doctrine uncongenial’.27


Lord and Lady Swaythling were unaware that they were harbouring a teenage radical. When they found out – discovering Ivor’s speech notes for a debate on ‘Revolutionary Action versus Parliamentary Action’ – there was trouble. His mother asked him to leave the BSP, while his father ordered him ‘to desist from politics’. Montagu may have been thinking of this occasion when he later recalled that his generation was reacting against ‘the Victorian horror – morally fortified by Biblical injunction and precedent – whereby the paterfamilias considered it not only his right but his duty to expect absolute obedience from his children, and unlimited gratitude.’ Now, amidst ‘tears and anger’, he rejected his parents’ demands. Finally, Montagu recounts, ‘a minimum compromise was reached. I was to promise faithfully that, whatever I did politically in the future, I should not, until I was 21, spend more of my allowance upon politics than I was spending now.’ An armistice was declared, and ‘amiable coexistence outwardly resumed’ on the understanding that Ivor would keep his promise for the next six years. ‘More or less,’ he says, ‘I did.’28


Ivor also joined the Labour Party (to which the BSP was affiliated), and in December 1918 took part in the general election campaign in support of his uncle Leslie Haden Guest, who was standing in Southwark for Labour. ‘Each day after school,’ Ivor recalls, ‘I put my top hat and white tie in the underground luggage office, took out a cap and a red tie and went off to Southwark.’ He did clerical work and tried canvassing, though found he was too shy for it. It was the first British election with universal male suffrage from age 21, and the first to permit female voting, from age 30. Haden Guest, who had converted to Judaism prior to his marriage to Lady Swaythling’s sister Carmel in 1910, was the first Jew to stand for Parliament as a Labour candidate. He was unsuccessful, but the Labour Party made strong gains against the Conservatives and Liberals. Lloyd George, who had supplanted Asquith as PM in 1916, won a landslide victory on his coalition ticket; Lord Swaythling, an Asquith supporter, was decidedly angry.29


Tensions accompanied demobilisation following the end of the war in 1918. Ivor, top hat and all, found himself caught up in a police attack on a protest march of discharged soldiers. He joined the fray, bringing down a policeman by striking him on the ankle with his silver-headed ebony cane. Less dramatic was his participation in the socialist think-tank organisation the Fabian Society, among whose leading lights were Shaw and Wells, and of which he was elected a member in 1919. He also joined the League of Free Nations Association, ‘a British organisation to promote an active Propaganda for the formation of a World League of Free Nations as the Necessary Basis of Permanent Peace in the future’. (Simultaneously Ivor’s father was at the Paris Peace Conference as a member of a delegation of British Jews seeking to incorporate religious freedom and non-discrimination in any treaty creating new states or enlarging old ones.)30


The Russian Revolution of 1917 and the subsequent civil war had made a profound impact on the Jewish establishment in Britain. Delight at the overthrow of the Tsar in March and legal enactment of Jewish Emancipation in April had been followed by dismay at the Bolshevik seizure of power in November. The attractions of communism as a doctrine to significant sections of the Jewish population in Britain and abroad was of deep concern to the moneyed elite, as was the potential to arouse anti-Semitism of an association of Jews with revolutionary activity. On 23 April 1919, the Morning Post published a letter to the editor signed by ten leading members of the English Jewish community, including Lord Swaythling. Attacking sympathy towards Bolshevism that had been expressed, albeit ambiguously, in recent articles in the Jewish press, the signatories expressed their desire ‘to disassociate ourselves absolutely and unreservedly from the mischievous and misleading doctrine which these articles are calculated to disseminate.’31


The ‘Letter of the Ten’, as it came to be called, was widely noticed. It would undoubtedly have exacerbated tensions between Louis and his son, who turned 15 on the day it was published. A comrade in the BSP (J.T. Lyne, on behalf of the branch secretary T.E. Quelch) was certainly alert to this possibility: writing to Ivor in November, he said, ‘My eyes being open, I saw the letter to the Morning Post under the signature of Lord Swaythling and others and wonder if your position is made difficult for you. Please do not consider it patronage if I tender my sympathy to you on this account.’32


In point of fact, the BSP was undergoing a crisis. The Party had adopted a strong pro-Soviet line, and was a leading player in the Hands Off Russia campaign launched in January 1919 to oppose Allied intervention on the side of the Whites. However, when delegates to the annual conference carried a resolution announcing their objective to ‘SEIZE THE REINS OF POWER, OVERTHROW THE RULE OF THE LANDLORD AND CAPITALIST CLASS, ESTABLISH THE DIRECT RULE OF THE WORKERS AND PEASANTS BY MEANS OF SOVIETS, AND WIND UP THE CAPITALIST ORDER OF SOCIETY’, the ultra-left enthusiasm was too much for some. The National Treasurer, H. Alexander (a prominent businessman who was also a leading figure in the Central London branch) and the Editor of the Party paper The Call, E.C. Fairchild, addressed a letter to members on 9 June resigning their positions, explaining that in their view the Party’s aim should be to strive for the social revolution by appealing to organised labour ‘in its millions’, co-operating with other socialist organisations, and adopting ‘a policy not so far away from the everyday thought of the working class, so that all possibility of its acceptance by them is destroyed.’33


Ivor was apparently sympathetic to this point of view, as were others. He stopped paying Party dues in June, ceased attending meetings, and let it be known that he intended to resign. When Lyne wrote, he explained to Ivor that ‘a few members of the Branch are endeavouring to “pull” it together again,’ that both Quelch and the chairman, Revington, were ‘moderates’, and that Montagu’s active support would strengthen the moderate position. There is no evidence that Ivor responded favourably to this appeal; he seems instead to have quietly dropped out of active politicking.34


By this time the BSP had voted by an overwhelming majority to affiliate to the Third (Communist) International – commonly abbreviated to Comintern – which had been founded in March. In 1920, assisted by a flow of funds from Moscow facilitated by Theodore Rothstein, it was a prime mover in the merger of socialist organisations that resulted in the formation of the Communist Party of Great Britain. T.E. (Tom) Quelch became a founding member of the CPGB, as did Albert Inkpin, who was to be the new Party’s first secretary. Ivor did not, at this stage, join. In his autobiography he contends that this was ‘for domestic reasons, rather than considered political choice’ – which suggests that his main concern was not to further antagonise his parents.35


It was also probable that he was concentrating on his studies. In his final year at Westminster in 1919, he qualified for admission to Cambridge University. However, Trinity College, where his brothers Stuart and Ewen were enrolled, would not accept him until he turned 17. Angry, he rejected Trinity and took exams for King’s instead. He passed, but King’s was also reluctant to take a 16-year-old.36


To fill in the waiting time, in 1920 Ivor enrolled in Zoology and Botany courses at the Royal College of Science in London, one of the constituent colleges of the Imperial College of Science and Technology. Here he was taught by the socialist Lancelot Hogben, who became a major influence on his thinking: it was he, Montagu explained, who ‘completed my conversion to a Marxian interpretation of history.’ It was at this time also that Ivor institutionalised his fervour for Southampton Football Club (cherry-stripe scarf and rosette, rattle and megaphone) by becoming the first president of its Supporters’ Club; Ewen was vice-president. The young radical was in a state of restless anticipation.37




2


CAMBRIDGE


FINALLY, IN 1921, Ivor went up to Cambridge. ‘This was the soil,’ he says, ‘in which I expanded like a flower.’ He was not one of the favoured students who lived in at King’s College. His lodgings in his first year were ‘rather distant in the suburbs’, then he moved to the more convenient St Edward’s Passage, opposite the college gates. Here, with a young couple and their baby, he found himself ‘extremely comfortable’.1


Cambridge in the early 1920s reflected the fading glories of imperial Britain. Formal education was not then, Montagu was to argue, its function: rather ‘it was mainly a sort of adjunct to, or cheap substitute for, the European Grand Tour,’ aimed at turning boys into gentlemen. Racism and anti-Semitism lurked beneath the polite surfaces of daily discourse. Female students were relegated to the outskirts, not permitted to graduate, and excluded from the Union and the dramatic societies. Intellectually the university lagged: ‘Of Marx and Freud, for example, hardly more than a soupçon had as yet trickled through into our fool’s paradise,’ wrote Basil Willey, who was a young English lecturer at the time. There were, of course, exceptions: King’s, for example, was strong in economics and classics.2


Despite its shortcomings, it was a vibrant environment for the rebellious third son of the 2nd Baron Swaythling, who could now escape the chafing constraints of his parents’ tutelage. If he paid little attention to his studies at Cambridge, he was nevertheless able to undertake scientific expeditions in the summer breaks, while indulging to the full his expanding interests in sport, debating, theatre, journalism, film and politics.


‘Academically I did nothing, learned nothing, achieved nothing, during my three years at Cambridge,’ writes Montagu, with perhaps a little exaggeration. He could not stay awake during lectures, and seldom attended classes, considering that he had learnt it all before at the Royal College of Science. Enrolled in Zoology, he failed the Tripos examination, yet managed ‘by a fluke’ to achieve an ordinary pass, graduating with a BA in 1924. This was followed in due course by an MA – which was awarded, he explains, ‘simply by one’s father keeping up periodic payments for a given time’.3


In zoology what absorbed him were his field trips, arranged under the auspices of the British Museum (Natural History). He focused on small burrowing mammals. In the summer of 1922, as one of a group of undergraduates, he hunted mice and voles on the Scottish islands of Islay and Jura; among their finds was a remarkable elderly shrew whose characteristics he described in his first scientific paper, On a Further Collection of Mammals from the Inner Hebrides, published as a pamphlet by the Zoological Society of London in December. The specimens the young researchers collected were deposited with the museum.4


The 1923 expedition took him further afield, to Yugoslavia. This time Ivor was in charge, and he took along a fellow undergraduate from Cambridge named Cotton. After some hair-raising adventures in the mountains of Slovenia and Croatia (which he described in articles for the Cambridge Mercury), they brought back on the train, to the bemusement of customs officials, a diverse collection of specimens including cave-dwelling grasshoppers, live scorpions, twenty-six Proteus (a red-gilled amphibian), two examples of Pisidium sp. (a pea clam), and a baby wolf cub.5


The summer of 1924, university studies completed, saw Montagu and his Cambridge friend Bancroft Clark (a Quaker shoemaker from the West of England) traipsing across the hot Hungarian plains in quest of the rodent Spalax, a blind mole-rat that spends its entire life underground. The creatures were plentiful but elusive, and despite digging up hundreds of yards of burrows the researchers were unable to lay their hands on a single specimen. Undaunted, Montagu was able to deduce from close study of the pockmarked clay the fact that the Spalax uses its nose to dig with, a ‘fascinating discovery’ that he duly wrote up in a scientific paper published in January 1925.6


While at Cambridge, Ivor maintained his keen interest in sport. He played tennis, and in April 1922 wrote a letter to Lawn Tennis and Badminton complaining that the authorities’ juggling up and down of the age limit for junior players had deprived him of a chance of competing in a championship matched with players of his own age. At university he played regularly in the College second team. Ivor also had a brief, unsuccessful foray playing football.7


However, it was table tennis, a favourite recreation at Townhill, that principally preoccupied him. According to his own account, Montagu was the initiator of the Cambridge University Ping-Pong Club, founded in Lent Term (January–March) 1921. Immediately popular, the club (which changed its name to the CU Table Tennis Club in October 1922) organised championships, inter-college tournaments and team contests against out-of-town opponents. Ivor was in the top echelon of players but never a champion, and his form was unreliable. In the first fully representative clash with Oxford University, in March 1923, he was the only player in the team to lose a match. ‘Montagu was a great disappointment,’ the Cambridge magazine The Granta lamented, ‘exhibiting form very much worse than that which he had displayed in previous games.’8


Beyond Cambridge, Montagu was instrumental in reviving a sport that had not been played competitively on a national scale for almost twenty years. Making contact with a Manchester businessman, A.F. Carris, who had similar ideas, and in collaboration with other enthusiasts including veterans Percival Bromfield and J.J. Payne, he helped establish what became the English Table Tennis Association (they discovered Ping-Pong was a registered trade name), and was elected its president – all ‘before my eighteenth birthday,’ he boasts.9


Undoubtedly, he had a personal love of playing, but there was also a political motivation behind the evangelical zeal with which the young student promoted the sport. Table tennis, he pointed out, with its cheap equipment and without any requirement for expensive grounds or premises, was ‘a sport particularly suited to the lower paid … its low cost meant that it could give pleasure and exercise indoors to youth of a class that, in towns and in those days of low wages and small public subsidy for sport, enjoyed little enough outdoors of either.’10


In 1924 Ivor published Table Tennis To-Day (Heffer, 56 pages, 1s 6d), one of the first manuals of the sport. It was warmly welcomed by the Daily Mirror, which called it ‘one of the best and most informative books ever published on the popular game.’ The reviewer T.L.-E. (undoubtedly Theyre Lee-Elliott) in The Granta called it ‘an invaluable book,’ lauding its inclusion of the (recently revised) rules and information on the history of the game, choice of implements, and playing technique. Lee-Elliott, however, noted that table tennis was ‘played by the vast majority as an innocent amusement, and to such players the serious, analytical spirit in which they are here urged to approach the game may be distasteful.’ Another, anonymous, reviewer was not so convinced of the seriousness of tone. ‘There are so many Mr Montagu’s [sic] in this book,’ he or she wrote:




Sometimes, pleasantly informative, he instructs; sometimes he poses abstrusely behind a welter of pseudo-mechanical phrases. For a few pages he seems wrapt in crusading vigour and shamelessly defends and propagates his subject; and then, here and there, an irritating twist persuades us he is treating the whole affair fantastically, as an obscure, unnecessary joke.





The appearance of the book was certainly noticed by the Cambridge undergraduates; a student publication on 17 May complained that, ‘Ivor Montagu has done nothing during the past week except produce his book on Table Tennis and ride a horse down King’s Parade. Surely from Ping Pong to equestrianism is a far cry.’11


The Cambridge Union debates in the interwar years constituted, according to T.E.B. Howarth, ‘a very erratic barometer of political and social opinion amongst undergraduates.’ Frequently featuring distinguished visitors, they were heavily attended. Ivor’s uncle Edwin Montagu, a former President of the Union and prominent debater in his time at Cambridge, had spoken on one such occasion. This was shortly after his forced resignation as Secretary of State for India in March 1922, following what Ivor describes as a virulent Tory attack.12


Ivor’s debate, however, was an in-house affair. On 29 April 1924, at the invitation of the newly elected President of the Cambridge Union Society, R.A. Butler (Pembroke), Ivor led the negative team on the motion ‘That Legislation should be enacted to deal with Strikes.’ The affirmative was headed by F.G.G. Carr, of Trinity Hall. According to The Gownsman, Ivor did not make an impressive debut:




We have had to wait so long for a maiden speech from the Hon. I. Montagu … that we may be pardoned for being disappointed. He will never set the Thames, probably not even the Cam, on fire. Both his manner and his tone are irritating, and the faultless English of his sentences becomes so involved as to make a fog through which his meaning only glimmers. He pretended to have been irritated by Mr Carr, and expressed a fear that laws against strikes would be as ineffective as Prohibition.13





Ivor was a keen theatregoer, and amongst the memorable productions he attended during his final year as a student were Shakespeare’s Hamlet (New Theatre, Oxford), Aristophanes’ The Birds (New Theatre, Cambridge), and, in London, Ernst Toller’s Man and the Masses (New Theatre), Shaw’s Saint Joan (New Theatre), Congreve’s The Old Batchelour (Regent) and Beatrice Mayor’s The Pleasure Garden (Regent). At Cambridge, Montagu tells us, ‘a family touring company had settled in a small hall in the railway district … The lines were given every ounce of dramatic ham, the audience hissed and cheered ….’ The company performed four or five plays a week and Ivor claimed to have seen nearly every show. He was curious how the audience would respond to Shaw, and for this purpose secured from the playwright himself the rights to The Shewing-up of Blanco Posnet, a ‘sermon in crude melodrama’ that the Lord Chamberlain had banned in 1909, no doubt because of its explicit (and favourable) portrayal of a prostitute. The play was duly performed at the People’s Theatre on 24 and 25 April 1924; it went down well, Montagu reports, but its performance disclosed an extraordinary fact – ‘None of the cast could remember lines … they were perfectly ready to gag and made up most of the text freely as they went along.’ Ivor was able to remit the sum of eight shillings and three pence to GBS as royalties.14


Another of Ivor’s pursuits at Cambridge was publishing and editing. In 1923 he corresponded with a fellow undergraduate, William A. Harris, who because of ill health was disposing of two journals of which he was proprietor, Youth and The Old Cambridge. Nothing seems to have come of these negotiations, but soon after Ivor started up his own publication, Cambridge University Times, which was in newspaper format and unillustrated. T.S. Eliot praised an article Ivor wrote for it entitled ‘A Communist Approves of Compulsory Military Service’ (‘I think the argument was only the obvious one that it must be useful to a revolutionary to know how to operate a machine-gun’). Dissatisfied, however, Montagu bought The Cambridge Mercury – possibly in partnership with his ‘closest companion in a number of the classical dissipations of University youth,’ Angus MacPhail – from its student founder, Cedric Belfrage. His first issue as editor (No. 13, 30 April 1924) contained his statement of satisfaction (‘With this present number we are content, we indicate to the intelligentsia the weight of our metal’) and his promise of more to come (‘And at May Week, about the 8th June, we shall publish a double number, fat, excellent, copiously illustrated, and packed with advertisements’). No. 14 did indeed appear, on 2 June. Montagu derived much pleasure from masterminding the mix of poems, articles, short stories, and graphics in the two numbers he edited. Harold Acton offered a translation of Mallarmé’s poem ‘Saint’, table tennis star Lee-Elliott contributed woodcuts, and the Communist Barnet ‘Woggy’ Woolf was responsible for both verse and caricatures. An admiring reader wrote after Ivor’s first effort that ‘everything was worthy of Cambridge’ and that ‘Mr MacPhail’s article was as brilliant as his famous jumpers.’ Yet financially, Ivor confesses, he ‘made a mess of trying to run it.’ It cost him all his spare cash.15


The other aspect of his journalistic activity was writing. For the Cambridge Mercury he began with art criticism, observing of Augustus John’s Madame Suggia that ‘he has left the ’cellist’s lower limbs like match-sticks beneath her skirt, and … the lower part of her ’cello is so utterly without support that its fall to the ground seems inevitable.’ After his account of travels in Yugoslavia, he then moved into reviewing the theatre, contributing notices on A Midsummer Night’s Dream (produced by Donald Calthrop), Gordon Bottomley’s verse drama Gruach, Phoenix by Lascelles Abercrombie, Progress by C.K. Munro, and the Oxford University Dramatic Society production of Hamlet (which offered ‘a smooth spontaneity and balance’ but was marred by the fact that Mr Gyles Isham, as the protagonist, ‘did not understand that he was in love with his mother … I must point out that the realisation of Hamlet as an incest play, yet more significant than Oedipus itself, is essential to its plausibility’). All these efforts were unmarked by any particular political perspective, but his Communist leanings came to the fore in his critique of Toller’s Man and the Masses and the misreadings, through doctrinal ignorance, it had received: ‘Read Kautsky’s attack on Bolshevik policy. Read Trotsky’s reply, published in English, with the title The Defence of Terrorism. Learn the meaning of the following terms: Materialist Conception of History, Class-consciousness …’ (Here the terminology closely approaches that of an outspoken manifesto he published around this time under the title ‘Prophecies’, which will be examined in Chapter 4.)16


One piece he wrote for the Mercury contains possibly his first published film criticism. This was ‘How Many Times’ (30 April 1924), an essay reflecting on what kinds of plays and films could bear being seen more than once. In the course of his argument he discusses A Woman of Paris (Charles Chaplin, USA, 1923) (‘The story, like the ideology and sub-titles of Mr Chaplin, is not very sophisticated; but the characterisation of the two principal protagonists, played by Miss Purviance and M. Menjou, is not anywhere excelled … there is no foot of film non-essential, no moment that does not advance the action …’); Das Cabinet des Dr Caligari/The Cabinet of Dr Caligari (Robert Wiene, Germany, 1920) (‘The madness in the film is purely subjective; the objective nature of the film is, on analysis, found only to consist in the exaggerated, furtive, terror-struck, terror-striking attitudes of the actors, and the overwhelming, distorted architectural shapes’); and Die Strasse/The Street (Karl Grune, Germany, 1923) (‘Certainly the most important film yet produced … an expressionistic treatment of sexual repression … passionately exciting and absorbingly instructive’).17


For The Granta Ivor wrote book reviews. In some thirty pieces contributed between May 1923 and June 1924 he passed judgement on fiction and nonfiction alike, on literary novels and short stories, science fiction and detective fiction, adventure stories and ghost stories; on poetry, plays, translations of the classics, and autobiography; on books of natural history and polar exploration (Herbert Ponting’s The Great White South), biographical portraits and scientific prognostication (J.B.S. Haldane’s Daedalus, or Science and the Future), political theory and travel, the playing of auction bridge and the history of racing. Little unifies this eclectic outpouring, except perhaps the frequently jocular tone (befitting The Granta’s immersion in undergraduate humour) and a characteristic mannerism Montagu developed in which he slates the work under review, before discovering nonetheless some beauties in it and commending it to his readership. He is liberal in dispensing both accolades (T.S. Stribling’s Fombombo is ‘the most excellent novel of action of the century’) and brickbats (‘I have never before met with such ill-constructed nonsense,’ he writes of H.E. Scarborough’s The Immortals: ‘Its being written was preposterous, its publication was inexcusable’). It is noteworthy that Montagu deploys a personal voice and is not shy to sing his own praises, however tongue-in-cheek he may be: he references ‘players of skill and determination like myself’ when discussing bridge, for example, while he declares that Eugene O’Neill was ‘in those days … properly appreciated on this side of the Atlantic only by Mr. MacDermott, Mr. Ervine and myself; we three, I fear, are the only persons in England with a proper sense of modern dramatic values.’


Cinema, perhaps because he was over-extended in other directions, does not figure largely in Montagu’s memoir of his Cambridge years. There was the time he saw Cecil B. De Mille’s The Ten Commandments, and a student wag called out from the audience, ‘Only six need be attempted.’ More significantly, he remembers organising a special screening of The Cabinet of Dr Caligari, negotiating the censorship hurdle. (At a party in his rooms after the show, the biologist J.B.S. Haldane seated himself in a revolving chair, stuck a ‘floppity chiffon hat on his head, took my terrestrial globe in one hand as a sort of combined orb and sceptre, twirled himself round, and announced that he was descended from Hwulfdun and rightful King of Scotland.’) But Ivor does not seem to have played an active role in the Cambridge University Kinema Club, set up by Peter Le Neve Foster in November 1923. The club hosted a variety of lecturers, including prominent director George Pearson (whom members later observed shooting Reveille at the Famous Players-Lasky studio at Islington), and also undertook its own amateur production.18


Writers Julian Bell and Christopher Isherwood maintained that politics was ‘seldom considered or discussed’ at Cambridge University in the 1920s. The general tenor was certainly apolitical or Conservative, yet there were a bevy of energetic socialists who opened fire at the status quo whenever the occasion arose. For some, Kingsley Martin recalls, ‘Socialism was the fashion … it was just so much intellectual wild oats’; for others, Montagu among them, it was the early phase of a lifelong commitment.19


Ivor’s chief field of activity was the Labour Club, which met in rooms at Magdalene College, had between 100 and 150 members, and whose president for a time was his brother Ewen. He became a member of the Executive. Apart from taking part in debates himself (including one at Oxford), Ivor helped organise meetings, recruit debaters, and invite visiting speakers. One time an invitation went out, after a fierce fight won by the right wing in the club, to J.H. Thomas, general secretary of the National Union of Railwaymen. To the leftists, Thomas was anathema for his perceived role in betraying inter-union solidarity, and Montagu devised a scheme whereby posters announcing the meeting carried the words ‘ALL MEMBERS ARE REQUESTED TO BE ON THEIR BEST BEHAVIOUR’. The hint was enough, he relates; the visit was called off.20


The Labour Club had six seats on the Cambridge Trades Council, and Montagu was, according to his own account, one of only two regular attenders; the other was Barnet Woolf, who was a working-class Jew from the East End of London. Here, outside a university environment, Ivor ‘spoke less and learned more.’ He was later to explain to Trotsky that ‘it became very noticeable to me that whenever myself or Woolf attempted to secure the consideration of problems in the light of Marxian principles, though we might secure momentary victory or majority, the fact that the principles were enunciated only by University delegates, had the effect invariably of causing the Trade Union delegates to feel that Communism or Marxism was academic, doctrinaire, not properly in working-class interest.’21


In May 1924 (with an eye, he confesses, to the zoological trip he hoped soon to make to the Soviet Union) he invited members of a Soviet trade union delegation currently in London to visit Cambridge; among the four who came were Mikhail Tomsky, the leader of the All-Russian Central Council of Trade Unions, and Vasiliev Yarotsky, a functionary in the Soviet trade union foreign department, who spoke excellent English. The visitors were especially keen to have the lodgings of John Maynard Keynes at King’s pointed out to them, since they were impressed by his contributions as an economist to post-war debates on international relations.22


Within the Labour Club, Montagu and ‘a caucus of like-minded radicals’ set up a ginger group called the Spillikins, to provide, he says, a ‘backbone’ to the club (Ivor designed the tie for this ‘juvenile cabal’ – black with large red spots). Referred to as ‘a Communist enclave’, it is probably the group described elsewhere as ‘a very small, though active and vocal, Communist society with perhaps thirty members’ which Howarth mentions in his history of Cambridge between the wars. In Montagu’s autobiography he downplays such explicit identification: ‘I cannot truthfully call us Communists, even though I should like thus to be able to claim early membership,’ he writes, ‘because we did not discuss Communism or, most of us, knew then properly what it was.’ Nevertheless, there were certainly Party members in the circle, including the biochemist Barnet Woolf, the mathematics student Philip Spratt, the crystallographer J.D. (Desmond) Bernal, and the journalist Allen Hutt, while others if not already members were moving towards it, like the historian A.L. Morton and Montagu himself. There was also a certain Michael Roberts, who was suspected of being a fascist spy. In a 1929 letter to Trotsky, Montagu stated straightforwardly that he was a member at Cambridge of the Young Communist League, but in later years he was less definite. In The Youngest Son he says that Woolf distributed postcards that ‘had something to do with the Young Communist League, but, if they constituted us formally members and our ensemble a branch, it was the last we heard of it, for we never had any formal business to transact, communications to report, or dues to pay.’ The first official Communist Party branch was not set up at Cambridge University until 1931.23


Undoubtedly a strong influence on these left-wing undergraduates was the economist Maurice Dobb, in whose rooms the Spillikins came into being and usually met. Dobb studied history and economics at Pembroke College between 1919 and 1922, did research at the London School of Economics for the next two years, completing his PhD, and returned to Cambridge as a lecturer in 1924. A man of strong Marxist convictions, he had more than once, as a student, been dunked fully-clothed in the Cam for openly espousing them. Dobb joined the Communist Party of Great Britain in 1922, and was the only academic known to have been a Party member in Britain in the 1920s.24


Montagu struck up a warm personal relationship with Dobb, whom he describes as ‘a slim, extremely elegant young man with fair hair and perfect pink complexion, of modest, almost diffident manners … he was so neat, in contrast to the rather scruffy appearance of most of us, that the saying was that if we ever wanted to print underground leaflets we should be able to do so in Dobb’s trouser-press.’ The Marxist economist treated his protégés well: his ‘bourgeois upbringing ensured that he furnished his guests with a steady stream of tea and éclairs.’ Dobb’s Communist affiliations were well-known and he would frequently take part in debates promoting a left-wing or pro-Soviet point of view, but he had to tread carefully so as not to unduly alarm the university authorities.25


Dobb is reported to have been a member of a Communist nucleus in the National Union of Scientific Workers, along with Arthur Serner, Clemens Palme Dutt and Alfred Bacharach, after economists were admitted to the union in January 1924. According to Richard Deacon (Donald McCormick), the NUSW helped secure an industrial research scholarship to Cambridge for the brilliant young Russian physicist Peter Kapitza, whom Montagu got to know and like when he arrived in Cambridge later that year.26


As a zoologist Montagu, of course, needed no special dispensation to join NUSW, and he duly became a member. In July 1924 he was engaged in correspondence with leading figures of the union regarding an upcoming visit of British scientists to Moscow. Ivor had apparently raised the matter with his old teacher Dr Lancelot Hogben, of the Society for Experimental Biology. Hogben told Montagu to ‘get in touch with Bacharach 4 Gerrard St to see NUSW is represented.’ Hogben also apparently contacted Bacharach himself, since the latter wrote to Ivor saying:




Dear Montagu, I have a peremptory and uninforming letter from Lance, ordering to get in touch with you about an alleged ‘mission’ of British & other scientists to Moscow this summer. He says he wants the NUSW to be represented, which is a good idea. But I know nothing of the whole business, so I should be grateful if you would send me a few details.27





Meanwhile, working within the Labour Party as the Communist Spillikins were doing was fully in line with CPGB strategy at this time. The policy had been urged on his British comrades by Lenin, against stiff opposition, in his influential 1920 pamphlet ‘Left-Wing’ Communism, an Infantile Disorder, and it was by now mandated by the Communist International. The CPGB had, in fact, repeatedly applied for affiliation to the Labour Party, but each time had been rebuffed. Nonetheless, it was the expectation that at election time Communists would support the Labour candidate in those electorates (the vast majority) in which no CPGB candidate was standing.28


In accordance with this policy, Ivor – who happily identified himself as a Communist at this time, although he was not a Party member – energetically campaigned for Labour Party candidates in elections, as he had done for Leslie Haden Guest in London. At the November 1922 general election he supported the Labour candidate for the Cambridgeshire constituency, Albert Stubbs, an organiser for the Workers’ Union, against the sitting member – who happened to be his uncle, Edwin Montagu. The 18-year-old student found himself trying to hold audiences of agricultural workers till the candidate arrived; he discovered that his speeches failed to carry conviction since the argument came from an outsider and did not spring from direct knowledge and personal experience.29


For Edwin, it was a ‘nasty and brutal campaign’. With coalition governments in power, he had enjoyed bilateral support from Liberals and Conservatives in the past, but this time the Tories ran their own candidate. Blaming Edwin for his promotion of moves towards self-government in India, the Tories attacked him with a vengeance ‘in what was perhaps the most sordid contest in the election. Hooligans filled his halls with noise. He was heckled and barracked.’ Meanwhile, Stubbs was receiving enthusiastic support, and in line with growing Labour strength around the country he came in a close second to the Tory; Edwin was several thousand votes behind in third place. It was the end of his political career, but Ivor believed his uncle did not bear him a grudge, ‘taking it for granted that I should support my own principles.’30


Ivor again campaigned for Stubbs, once more without success, in the general election of December 1923; the seat was held by the Conservatives. This was the election in which his student friend Aubrey Clark, campaigning for Labour in the Northampton electorate, wrote to Ivor saying, ‘I think I like electioneering more than any other amusement – it is a pity that parliamentary politics is not likely to last long enough to have a really good fling at it.’ In the event the election resulted in the first Labour-led government in British history. A further campaign Ivor attached himself to was that of Fenner Brockway, the Independent Labour Party secretary, standing for Labour in the March 1924 Westminster Abbey by-election. The seat had been held by the Conservatives and Brockway was up against a Tory, a Liberal, and Winston Churchill, standing as an independent ‘Constitutionalist’. Ivor volunteered to work for Brockway, ‘detesting Churchill and all that he stood for.’ Churchill lost to the Tory by forty-three votes. At the announcement of the result he ‘wept unashamedly’; Ivor had ‘never before seen a grown man weep in public and this made me think quite differently of him.’31


At Cambridge the forum for extra-curricular discussion was a club known as the Heretics, ‘conspicuous in its heyday in the twenties for total freedom of thought, the sort of emancipated irreverence which one associates with the eighteenth-century philosophes, and general moral free-wheeling’. Montagu called it the ‘intellectual snob society’; he, of course, joined. The Heretics, he says, ‘managed to induce on to its lecture list an astonishing series of the intellectual lions of the day, who, after performance, would proceed to someone’s rooms in college where we could interrogate them far into the night.’ Here he came in contact with J.B.S. Haldane (‘perhaps the greatest Heretic of all’ in the view of university historian Howarth); with the philosopher R.B. Braithwaite and the educationalist A.S. Neill, the gynaecologist Norman Haire and the art critic Roger Fry, the economist Joan Robinson and the history student, at that time, Alexander Tudor Hart. He ‘did not take at all’ to Bertrand Russell, but struck up important ‘pupil-teacher relationships’ with the Marxist theorists Rajani Palme Dutt and Robin Page Arnot.32


On top of all this, Ivor found time for billiards, chess, and bridge, and he would occasionally attend a race meet. He ventured into gastronomy by founding a Cheese-Eaters’ League, whose members wore a miniature yellow rosette in their buttonhole. Among the exotic samples they procured were a hard camel’s-milk cylinder from Egypt and a ‘delicate white soft thing’ from the Arabian desert. They were particularly keen to try whale’s-milk cheese, but despite overtures to the British Museum (Natural History), this was not to be had.33


Meanwhile, Ivor chased girls. There was a woman he met while debating at Oxford whom he took to dinner and the theatre. Her elfin face and hair of deep red mahogany kept him ‘desperately awake at night’. Alas, she did not think of him ‘in that way’, and married a Unitarian minister. In Cambridge he frequented a salon run by the remarkable Lella Secor, an American journalist, anti-war campaigner and birth control activist, who had married Philip Sargant Florence, an economics don who became president of the Heretics in 1924. ‘Dear Lella!’ exults Ivor. Her salon ‘attracted young people of both sexes by her political glamour and held them by her effervescence and charm.’ Here he met several young women whom he found attractive, but his, in retrospect, clumsy mode of courtship precluded the development of any close attachment. ‘I think now,’ he was later to write, ‘that the reason for my lack of success in romance at this time was the fact that I had no social graces whatever.’34


While somewhat bored with the proceedings of the Biological Tea Club on the afternoon of 22 March 1924, Ivor found himself jotting down a poem, stimulated by the memory of seeing a fire-bellied toad in Kupjak, Croatia, the previous June. As subsequently amended later in the day, the verse read:




Trees without memory


ascending like a scene


on floor packed with


ochre leaves round green merging moss


Standing large footed in


shallow fawn mud spreading


I pierce serene


surface opaque to frog





Reflecting on it, Ivor determined that psychoanalysis was in order. ‘The phallicism of the ascending tree should be noted,’ he wrote. ‘Ochre connected with colour of character of loved object. Scene, floor, packed, refer to another loved object (one only desired erotically even consciously); round green probably refers also to her, noting the colour of her made up eyes … serene surface probably refers to a belief in the loved object’s virginity, opaque to frog a desire (unconscious) for conviction that she was not inevitably attached to her fiancé …’. Sex was on his mind.35


Poetry writing was one activity Montagu would not pursue further.


He fell in love, ‘head over heels’. She was from Newnham, the women’s college. ‘Among the intellectuals and would-be intellectuals of the day, in numerous coteries of art and science,’ she exerted a ‘bewitching and all-conquering attraction’. Like the woman from Oxford, his new inamorata accepted him as a companion but no more. Still, Ivor ‘stuck like a burr’ and tried desperately to woo her. Boasting of his swimming prowess, he accepted her dare to dive off the Poole Harbour ferry in Dorset, and had to be rescued. Another time, clambering round cliffs on the North Devon coast, he became paralysed by fear, which he overcame only after her repeated entreaties. Fortunately they saw the funny side. The unrequited love was to yield one bitter-sweet moment on his last evening at Cambridge, the summer night ‘languid and refreshing’, punting on the Cam with the lady, two dear male friends, and several bottles of wine. With one of the friends, Bancroft Clark, he then headed off for the plains of Hungary.36


On return from the zoological mission, Ivor began to write up the results, and resumed his London divertissements. He joined the South Kensington branch of the Labour Party. He remained active in the Fabian Society. He had also been elected a member of the 1917 Club, whose object was ‘to provide a meeting place for the interchange of opinion and information relating to Democracy and Internationalism.’ Its president was none other than the Prime Minister himself, J. Ramsay MacDonald. Here he played table tennis, against Kingsley Martin, whom he knew from Magdalene College, and Francis Meynell, the poet (and Comintern smuggler); other members included Maurice Dobb and Desmond Bernal. To prepare for his longed-for trip to the Soviet Union, which could not be undertaken, because of his father’s opposition, until he turned 21, he enrolled in evening classes in Russian at the Marylebone Institute; the instructor was ‘a little old émigré lady who used Berlitz methods’.37


Questions of a future career were pressing. The allowance from his father was about to expire. But meantime there was just enough left in the kitty to go travelling again. Since he was thinking of perhaps making a living from translation, Montagu headed off to the Continent in November 1924, rucksack on his back, to track down two playwrights. In Paris, he found Fernand Crommelynck, and secured from him an option on Le Cocu magnifique. Ernst Toller, who had recently been released from prison after serving five years for revolutionary political activity, was more elusive. The trail led from Lugano in Switzerland, to Vienna, and eventually to Berlin. Tracked down, Toller received Montagu warmly, and they talked far into the night. English-language options on his plays were already committed, but the two became friends and the way was left open for future business collaboration.38


It was a good trip, overall. Ivor saw the Fratellini at the Cirque d’Hiver in Paris, Goldoni’s The Servant of Two Masters in Vienna, and Shaw’s Der heilige Johanna, directed by Max Reinhardt and starring Elisabeth Bergner, in Berlin. (He made the acquaintance of Bergner and was ‘totally bowled over’ by her.) In Swiss TB sanatoria he visited his teenage cousin David Guest – Leslie Haden Guest’s son – and his Cambridge acquaintance Alexander Tudor Hart, feared to be near death. He went walking in the mountains, wrote his translation of Le Cocu in the Austrian village of Sonntagsberg (his French having no doubt improved since his days in Mr Gibbs’s prep school), created a minor disturbance by sleeping overnight in what was – unbeknownst to him – a brothel in Vienna, turned down a sexual proposition from a woman about to be married in Prague, and got back to Townhill just in time for Christmas.39


What for the new year? Montagu was intent on pursuing zoology as his profession, but jobs only came up sporadically, and to pursue research he needed funding. His father was amenable, but wanted proof of Ivor’s capacity by his being awarded a grant. Ivor was informed, however, that he was highly unlikely to receive a research grant because, as was well-known, his family were well-endowed. ‘Impasse. Dead end.’40


The alternative was for his father to continue paying Ivor an allowance while he explored other options. Lord Swaythling was reluctant. He wanted to know what his son would be doing before he parted with his money. Ivor was stubborn. ‘I on the contrary considered that he owed me at any rate some moral obligation – magnitude subject to argument – in that the upbringing for which he had been responsible had accustomed me to a certain kind of life that it would be tyranny arbitrarily to end.’ Ivor wanted certainty, ‘a frank relationship untinged with self-suspicion of sycophancy’. He demanded to know where he stood. Lord Swaythling, on the other hand, felt, as Ivor was later to acknowledge, that to accede to his son’s demand ‘would have seemed to him abandonment of the responsibility that love bade him retain.’ And since he was a man who ‘would declare right and wrong so rigidly as to brook no discussion,’ there matters stood.41


Lady Swaythling intervened. At her urging his father consented to continue the allowance he had been paying for one more year. ‘If he by the financial year’s end approved of what I was then doing, he might continue it. If not, not.’ For Ivor the crisis was ‘shelved only, not resolved.’ But at least he would continue to receive an unearned income of £500, twice the average wage. He could look ahead to 1925, the year in which he would reach his majority, with some degree of confidence.42




3


FILM CULTURE


IVOR DECIDED TO try film journalism. He had met Canadian-born Beverley Baxter, editor of the Daily Express, when the protégé of magnate Lord Beaverbrook came and stayed for a weekend at Townhill. In London, Baxter received him and gave him tips on the newspaper business. But film reviewing was no job for a young man, Baxter decreed. Critics were recruited from the ranks of reporters too old to go chasing news stories. ‘You need something more active,’ he told the flummoxed Montagu.1


Lord and Lady Swaythling invited John Walter, proprietor of The Times, to dinner. This procured an interview for their son, as a result of which he was offered a tasty proposition. For £25 advanced in expenses, he would go to Berlin and write a report on the German film industry. Ivor accepted, hooked up with his Cambridge pal Angus MacPhail, and set off. (Ivor booked third class on the train, but Angus preferred first, and offered to pay Ivor’s supplement if he would play chess with him for half a crown a game all the way to Berlin. ‘I am ashamed to say,’ Ivor says, ‘I lost on the deal.’) It was probably late January 1925.2


Ivor had prepared well, and had introductions. The most valuable was to the foreign editor of the German film trade paper, the Lichtbildbuehne. Heinrich Fraenkel was ‘a small pleasant man, with nutcracker face’ who spoke perfect English as a result of being isolated in Britain as a teenager during the war. Fraenkel ‘could give introductions to everyone in Berlin.’ Hence he and Angus met, says Montagu in his sweeping fashion, ‘all the stars, all the directors’, though he singles out only Emil Jannings. Jannings had recently starred in Paul Czinner’s Nju – Eine unverstandene Frau/Husbands or Lovers, a triangle drama, which they saw and which ‘struck us as a revelation of the possibilities of commenting profoundly on human relationships by cinema.’ They saw films ‘medieval, rococo, contemporary, expressionist and futurist’; they saw, too, the sets at Ufa, the major German studio – houses ‘so stupidly solid and naturalistically (but totally unnecessarily) real that they must have cost as much or more than if they had been built to live in.’3


The journalistic mission was a failure. Montagu returned Walter’s advance, regretting that he felt unable to write anything on German cinema – ‘I had now learnt enough to know I did not know enough.’ Blaming his overcaution on his scientific education, Ivor concluded that he was not ‘properly cut out for journalism’. Yet in another respect the trip had a fruitful outcome.4


On the train home, Montagu got talking to Hugh Miller, a handsome 35-year-old actor who was returning to England after working alongside Olga Chekhova on the Anglo-German co-production The City of Temptation/Die Stadt der Versuchung. They bemoaned the state of film culture in Britain compared with that of Germany, ‘lamenting the unadventurousness of the British cinema, the fact that a combination of boorish censor, American film domination and a timid film industry had effectively put a stranglehold on all experimentation.’ Theatre had its Stage Society, which mounted for its subscription audience the exciting and challenging new works of Shaw, Ibsen, Strindberg, Pirandello, Gorky, Cocteau. Why could not London have a Film Society?5


The idea was not new. Miller is reported to have discussed such an initiative with the drama critic Alexander Bakshy as far back as before the war. The Stoll Picture Theatre Club had assembled intellectuals to discuss film in 1919, and young director Adrian Brunel had tried to get a Cinemagoers’ League off the ground in 1920. Very recently, in November and December 1924, film critic Walter Mycroft had proposed in his column in the Evening Standard a film society that could screen pictures that were commercially unavailable (he was particularly frustrated by the inability of London audiences to see Murnau’s Phantom).6


And France had proved it could be done. Ciné-clubs, founded by cinéastes like Ricciotto Canudo, Louis Delluc, Germaine Dulac and Léon Moussinac, were flourishing, while the Théâtre du Vieux Colombier in Paris (which Montagu was familiar with) had been converted in 1924 by Jean Tedesco into a specialist cinema for film as art. In England the time was ripe, and Montagu, still not 21, was the man with the time, energy, connections and chutzpah to make it happen.7


The first thing was to recruit allies. Adrian Brunel, a filmmaker with artistic aspirations and a friend of Miller’s, was an obvious choice. The conspirators collared him in the dress-circle of the London Pavilion, at the premiere of Ernst Lubitsch’s Forbidden Paradise (10 February 1925). Brunel recounts that ‘my friend, Hugh Miller, approached me with a tall and dark stranger who smiled at me friendlily and waved his hand in greeting.’ Brunel had at this time a number of shorts and two features – The Man Without Desire with Ivor Novello and Lovers in Araby with Miles Mander – to his credit. His heartfelt endorsement of the project was secured. Meanwhile, in Berlin, Fraenkel received news of the venture with enthusiasm, telling Ivor: ‘I am sure you will get all the German pictures you want for your purpose and under the conditions outlined in your letter.’8


Next in line was the film critic Iris Barry, then of the Spectator and Vogue. In her columns she had championed film as an art form worthy of serious critical attention and celebrated avant-garde innovation as an avenue for cinema to develop. Ivor attributes Barry’s enlistment to Miller, but she herself credits Montagu:




It began with a telephone call from an unknown person – a man who said that his name was Ivor Montagu, that he had been lunching with Hugh Miller the actor and they both wanted to come and talk to me … About something to do with the cinema. And as the cinema was one of the things that interested me most at the time, to a degree which most of my friends regarded as eccentricity or mania, I said that they had both better come round at once and have tea with me so that we could talk.





After the men had outlined the scheme, ‘My agreement was immediate and enthusiastic and we got out pencils and paper at once to sketch a programme of action.’9


Walter Mycroft certainly had to be included, especially because Montagu had liked his review of Arthur Robison’s boldly expressionist Schatten – eine nächtliche Halluzination/Warning Shadows, shown in London the previous November. ‘Tiny and hunchbacked,’ according to Montagu, he ‘was invaluable because he knew the minds and ways of his fellow film critics, and what had to be done to get newspaper space.’ Mycroft was happy to lend his support. ‘When I first met Ivor Montagu all but twenty years ago,’ he recalls in his memoirs, ‘he was slim, arresting and a wholly captivating young man just down from Cambridge, who looked like a youthful Trotsky, which resemblance I think he liked to encourage.’ Mycroft embraced the film society idea because it gelled with his own conception of cinema:




There was already an avant-garde which believed in the film of the future and was interested in certain, but few, films of the present, because they pointed the way to that future. These films were non-commercial and were, in fact, despised by the ‘trade’ as it did not mind calling itself. They were the kind of films I had been writing about for years.





If all went to plan, it would become possible to ‘track down all such films, secure them and ensure for them an audience that wanted to see them.’10


To advance the cause Iris Barry threw a party at her house in Guilford Street, as she liked to do. (Montagu describes her as ‘dark, slender, capable and calm with extremely well-shaped features and a crop as tight as Beatrice Lillie’s or a Dutch doll’s.’) She invited Montagu and Miller, Brunel and Mycroft – and two others who were successfully swept up into the project, her friend Sidney Bernstein, a film exhibitor, and the sculptor Frank Dobson, whom Bernstein apparently brought along. ‘It was a stroke of luck that Sidney’s imagination was struck that night,’ Montagu wrote. ‘He was the only one of us on the real inside of films, as well as, probably, the only person in the industry of those days who shared our enthusiasm for “the arts”.’ Bernstein was, according to Ivor, a ‘slim, tall, elegant handsome creature, with humorous eyes and a boxer’s nose, liberal and enterprising in his ideas, catholic, comfortable and choosy in his surroundings, generous and loyal to friends and family, an unpredictable and nerve-wracking adventure to work for or – I should guess – to live with’. His participation in the film society undertaking was crucial because he had clout with the big industry players. Discussions went on late that night; Bernstein and Montagu left together in the early hours of the morning, in the pouring rain.11


On 23 April, Ivor celebrated his 21st birthday. And then, since he was now at liberty to travel to the Soviet Union and planned to depart very soon, the conspirators decided it was time for a launch. Ivor knew just the person to call on for this ceremonial purpose – his mother. She agreed to host a luncheon. Ivor drafted the invitation: ‘My mother Lady Swaythling will be very pleased if you will come to lunch here at 1 o’c on Wednesday next the 6th [May]. This lunch is to inaugurate the Film Society …’12


The chosen guests were heavily representative of the media, and after being regaled, no doubt, with a fine sample of Kensington Court hospitality, they were ushered into the library for a press conference. Here Ivor and Iris Barry proclaimed the aims of the Film Society, which were expressed as follows in a promotional leaflet issued around this time:




The Film Society has been founded in the belief that there are in this country a large number of people who regard the cinema with the liveliest interest, and who would welcome an opportunity seldom afforded the general public of witnessing films of intrinsic merit, whether new or old.


At the moment, although it is possible in the course of a year, for a member of the ordinary cinema-going public to see such remarkable films as: Warning Shadows, Greed, The Last Laugh and The Marriage Circle, at long intervals and often after considerable difficulty in discovering where and when they may be found, it is not possible for such a person to go during any week in the year into any picture house in England and be sure of finding one of abiding merit.


The Film Society proposes to remedy this condition by showing films which reach a certain aesthetic standard, to a limited membership on Sundays, in the same way that plays are shown by the Phoenix and Stage Societies. A certain number of these films are made every year, and as they appeal to a minority, they are frequently denied to those who would most enjoy them; on the rare occasions when they have been publicly exhibited, they have been carelessly cut and edited as in the case of Caligari, and so titled as to be incoherent. It is the intention of the Society to provide a programme of the most lively and varied interest with an appropriate and well-played musical setting.


It is felt to be of the utmost importance that films of the type proposed should be available to the Press, and to the Film trade itself, including present and (what is far more important) future British film-producers, editors, cameramen, titling experts and actors. For, although such intelligent films as Nju or The Last Laugh may not be what is desired by the greatest number of people, yet there can be no question but that they embody certain improvements in technique that are as essential to commercial as they are to experimental cinematography.13





Montagu and Barry announced that the society would begin its activities in October, and confidently predicted that the performances would be ‘unhampered by the censor’. One of Ivor’s ambitions confided to the journalists was to show Erich von Stroheim’s celebrated Greed in its original, uncut version. ‘This took eight hours when it was first shown in America. In England they cut it to two hours. If necessary we will give it in two instalments of four hours each, and perhaps serve dinner or tea in the interval.’14


Press reaction was generally favourable, though the trade papers were cautious. Montagu later commented that ‘they seemed to regard our exploration of any other criterion of film judgement than box-office as an intrusion not only dangerous to their readers’ interests but even immoral.’ Of the mainstream film reviewers, Caroline A. Lejeune of the Manchester Guardian proved a disappointment. She had written to Ivor saying, ‘I’m ready to be most enthusiastic over any scheme that will start a Vieux Colombier, or anything like it, in London. I should be glad to do what I could to help at any time, both on paper and with any suggestions that might be of use.’ And she had accepted Lady Swaythling’s invitation to lunch. But when the Film Society plan was revealed, she felt it smacked of exclusivity: ‘The doors will be shut against all but the fully subscribed.’ According to Ivor, she called the promoters ‘bloated plutocrats’, and proclaimed ‘with red-hot obstinacy that nothing could be of any use that was not open to the public.’ He conceded that ‘in a sense she was not wrong’ – but a subscription society was necessary at this stage, in his view, to pave the way for the arthouse cinemas to come.15


It was determined that there would be a Council, comprising Montagu, Brunel, Miller, Barry, Bernstein, Dobson and Mycroft, with Montagu as chairman. As secretary, they appointed the highly efficient Miss J.M. (Josephine) Harvey, who ran a concert agency, and her office at 56 Manchester Street, Marylebone, became the Society’s address. But it was necessary to canvass support further afield. Ivor was advised that the legal structure for the society would need to be a not-for-profit limited liability company. Shareholders in the company, at £1 a share, would act as ‘guarantors’ – and could hopefully provide a veneer of respectability to what could otherwise seem (in its quest to avoid censorship, for example) a somewhat dodgy undertaking. By the time of the press conference, a number of high-profile backers had already been procured, including Ivor’s acquaintances George Bernard Shaw and Roger Fry, and biologist Julian Huxley. As Ivor left for the first of his two jaunts to the Soviet Union that year (to be recounted in Chapter 4), the quest went on; and in the end an impressive array of names adorned the Society’s roster of shareholders. Among others there were Lord Ashfield (‘a most useful name as at that time he ran the Underground’), Lord Swaythling, Ivor’s father, who brought Ashfield in, and Lord David Cecil, the historian. There were the renowned actress Dame Ellen Terry and her daughter Edith Craig, theatre director; the painters Clare Atwood and Augustus John; Professor (of English) Jack Isaacs, and J. St Loe Strachey of the Spectator; the actor Ben Webster; John Maynard Keynes and J.B.S. Haldane from Cambridge; Heinrich Fraenkel, who lent his support from afar; Angus MacPhail and Anthony Asquith, setting their sights on a film industry career; George Co-oper, screenwriter and director; Edward McKnight Kauffer, graphic artist, whom Ivor induced to design the Society’s logo; and George A. Atkinson, film critic of the Daily Express. And there was H.G. Wells, whom Iris Barry chased up, as Ivor was in Russia and he had ‘charmingly promised’ to be a member; Wells did not demur, but ‘wanted the draft of our articles altered where we had him down as “writer”; he said he should be listed as “man of letters”.’16


Much of the donkey-work, after Ivor’s departure, fell to Iris Barry. Her connections as a film journalist both at home and abroad were invaluable, but persistence was required. In a somewhat despairing letter to Montagu written probably towards the end of May, she confesses:




I shudder at the idea of meeting you again, for you are bound to be dismayed at the very small progress that seems to have been made. I can only swear I have done everything possible – have written letters till my arm ached, telephoned until I dread next quarter’s bill & called on people (to little purpose) as assiduously as a dun.





People had not responded, no films had yet arrived, she had not been to Paris as planned because she had no money, and Miss Harvey was being expected to provide for ‘notepaper printing postage telephones & her own salary’ out of the £5 Bernstein had advanced. Still – ‘I’m sure you will soothe me nicely when you come & make me feel all is well & that I’ve not really got anything to grumble about. Please try!’ No doubt Ivor did, since Iris remained an energetic and enthusiastic supporter of the cause.17


Doing the legal work was Walter D’Arcy Hart, Ivor’s cousin and the family solicitor. It was under his guidance that the articles of association for the society itself and for its parent company were drawn up. Hart’s reply to a letter Ivor sent him in connection with the costs for this work hints at something of the conflicts the young socialist aristocrat must have been experiencing at this time. Hart wrote:




When I sent you the two bills I asked you to pay the disbursements and invited you to pay such of the costs as you thought fit. I do not think you could have expected more. All that you had to do was to accept my invitation and name the figure, and I am sorry that you have thought it desirable to make entirely unnecessary and inaccurate remarks. Perhaps, however, you were only trying to be humourous [sic]. We are quite ready to accept £50 in settlement, but I should like you to realise that this sum is considerably less than what the work involved has actually cost my firm, without allowing for any payment for my services. Yours ever, Walter Hart. P.S. I reciprocate your love and kisses and that sort of thing.





It can be conjectured that Ivor’s letter, in gauchely trying to make a joke of the affair, betrayed his sense of bad faith in accepting favours from the family law firm.18


The Film Society needed a venue. Veteran director George Pearson recollected that Miller, whom he knew as an actor in his film Reveille, introduced him to Montagu in the Islington Studio canteen. ‘I was instantly impressed by Montagu’s strong personality,’ Pearson says. ‘He was thick set and sturdy; a tousled head of black hair fell over deep-set eyes that held me as I listened.’ Ivor explained the Film Society project; he wanted advice on finding a large, centrally located cinema that would be amenable to periodic private shows. Pearson was strongly supportive but unable to help. Fortunately, one of the Society’s shareholders stepped in. Lord Ashfield was able to secure the use, free of charge, of the comfortable, 1,400-seat New Gallery Kinema in Regent Street for Sunday afternoon screenings once a month.19


There were three classes of subscription to the Society: three guineas, two guineas and one guinea (£3.3.0, £2.2.0 and £1.1.0). Each entitled the member to one seat at eight performances, it having been determined that the Society would close down over the summer months. Perhaps vindicating Lejeune’s reservations, the venture was clearly aimed at an affluent middle-class membership; even the cheapest rate was two to three times what ordinary cinemagoers would pay for eight film screenings. Publicity proved effective, and by the time of the first scheduled performance some 900 members had paid their dues.20


The subscription revenue was certainly required, since though the Society planned, for the most part, to borrow films without paying rental, and had acquired the New Gallery at no charge, Montagu’s team ‘meant to show the films in no hole and corner fashion.’ They wanted, in this era of silent pictures, ‘the best orchestra and the best music’ – which meant scores being prepared and musicians hired. There were costs, too, for freight and customs duties, for entertainment tax, and for titling, since a foreign film needed to have translated intertitles shot and inserted (a function which Brunel’s small editing company performed for a fee ‘so ridiculously nominal it was daylight robbery of himself’).21


The programmes for the first season were selected on the basis of all the intelligence the group could gather about adventurous and esoteric cinema internationally: films Montagu and Miller had seen or heard about in Germany, gossip acquired in their role as critics by Mycroft and Atkinson, reports of experimental work showcased at Le Vieux Colombier. Then expeditions to the Continent would be needed for negotiations and, sometimes, physical collection of prints. But it was not only features and avant-garde shorts that the young cinéastes were after: ‘Our policy,’ Montagu explains, ‘was to concern ourselves not only with “art” but with every use of film that did not reach the commercial screen in Britain at that time.’ Hence they acquired for screening old short films (to be shown in the ‘Resurrection’ series), scientific films (the ‘Bionomics’ series), short comedies (Brunel’s burlesques were especially valued), technical films (particularly those showing developments in cinematography), animated films, and documentaries.22


Montagu was keen to counteract the impression that the Film Society would be catering to ‘snobs’ and ‘intellectuals’, simply providing erudite entertainment for an educated elite. Hence he emphasised his hope that the screenings would contribute to the technical advance of British cinematography, and at the beginning it was proposed that all cameramen attached to British studios be admitted free of charge. When The Kinematograph Weekly accused the Society of being ‘highbrows’, Ivor leapt to its defence. ‘All that we urge is this,’ he wrote. ‘The factors that make a picture interesting and important in the development of the kinematograph (that is to say, ingenious technique of acting, of production, of lighting, of design, and so forth) are often quite independent of the factors that make for popular success. Now, it often happens that a picture important from this point of view is quite rightly, in most instances, judged unsuitable for public exhibition by the Trade, owing to its morbidity, or that obscurity which we agree in labelling highbrow, or some similar cause. It is obvious that we can be chiefly useful, both to the Trade and to the intelligent public interested in the kinema, by showing this sort of picture.’ He concluded by expressing the hope that ‘the Trade will begin to look on us and use us as a sort of research station for trying out the experimental and studying the past.’23


It was something of a forlorn hope. With the prominent exceptions of a few individuals such as Bernstein and Pearson, the Trade proved reluctant to respond to the Society’s overtures. Antagonism to the venture from within the film industry was such that before long Brunel was forced to sever his ties, as his employers (Gainsborough Pictures) ‘insisted that my association with the Society would damage the prestige of the films I made for them!’24


Two weeks before the scheduled opening performance there was a curious turn of events. Atkinson, having clearly changed his mind about the support he had offered the Society, published an article deriding it in the Sunday Express. ‘The sponsors of this society,’ he declared, ‘are a number of earnest young men of the type that uses well-formed phrases to express half-formed ideas, and a number of equally earnest young women of the type that exchanges femininity for a political point of view.’ He attacked the Society for selecting only Russian and German films (in fact, there were no Russian pictures on the play list, since none were to be had), and pontificated:




The only essential difference between Russian and German art and art elsewhere is that the proportion of lunatics in Russian and German artistic circles is demonstrably much higher than in other countries, and I strongly recommend the Film Society to include in its critical forces a number of competent alienists able to detect mental aberration masquerading as aesthetic value.





But the most damaging claim followed. There was a ‘rumour current in Filmland,’ he asserted, ‘that the Film Society is not wholly free from political bias of an obnoxious colour. The society’s links to Moscow seem to be friendlier than is relevant for an organisation formed to establish “good taste” in Great Britain.’25


What ensued next is not entirely clear. In an inaccurate and highly coloured account of the incident in The Youngest Son, Montagu asserts that members of the Society Council issued a writ against the paper, but he, although ‘the most seriously libelled’, refused to join in (since he saw nothing wrong in sympathising with Soviet Communism). However, he intervened with Lord Beaverbrook, the proprietor of the Sunday Express, and negotiated a settlement including costs and a withdrawal. Whatever the truth of this may be – and the grounds for a libel action appear very slim – a retraction, was in, fact published two weeks after the initial column. Atkinson wrote:




Our attention has been called, on behalf of Miss Iris Barry, Mr Sidney L. Bernstein and Mr Adrian Brunel, and the other members of the Film Society, to an article which appeared in our issue of the 11th October 1925 … We are happy to say at once that we had not the slightest intention of imputing any political motives or bias to the Society or to the members of the Committee, nor do we in any way suggest that they are in any way connected with the Bolshevist movement … We are pleased to express our apologies to the Society and its executive and regret if we have given any cause for offence.26





Then, at the last minute, another crisis. Montagu had wrongly assumed that just as the Stage Society, being a private club, could avert the censorious gaze of the Lord Chamberlain, so the Film Society could escape the purview of J. Brooke Wilkinson, pettifogging Secretary of the British Board of Film Censors. Not so: the Cinematograph Films Act of 1909, though it did not mention censorship, had been held to allow local authorities the power, for the protection of the public, to stipulate all the conditions under which films could and could not be screened. And generally speaking, local authorities required that screening venues under their jurisdiction only show films that were certificated by the BBFC, which was an industry body set up to smooth the way for commercial distributors and exhibitors; private societies were only exempt if they held their film shows in private houses. What is more, what was proposed would contravene an established ban on Sunday performances before 6.30 p.m. The Film Society was forced to make a desperate appeal to the London County Council, and it was successful, but only just. ‘We pulled out every establishment stop we had,’ Ivor admits. The Society received an emergency dispensation for their first show, and then, by a narrow majority vote, a censorship and Sunday screening waiver for the whole of the 1925–26 season.27
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